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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COUR
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWAR|

ACERA SURGICAL, INC,
RETECTIX, LLC, and
WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY

V. C.A. No. 2(-98C-CFC
NANOFIBER SOLUTIONS, LLC,
PARAGEN TECHNOLOGIES LLC,)
ATREON ORTHOPEDICS LLC, and)
RENOVODERM LLC )
)

Defendants )

)
)
)
)
Plaintiffs. )
)
|
) DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT

Plaintiffs ACERA SURGICAL, INC (*Acera”), RETECTIX, LLC
(“‘Retectix”) and WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY (“WashU”) (collectively,
“Plaintiffs”) hereby complain of Defendants NANOFIBER SOLUTIONS, LLC,
PARAGEN TECHNOLOGIES LLC, RENOVODERM LLC, and ATREON
ORTHOPEDICS LLC (collectively, “Defendants”) and allege as follows:

PARTIES

1. Plaintiff Acera is a corporation incorporated under the laws of

Delaware and has its principal place of business at 10880 Baur Blvd., St. Louis,

Missouri 63132.
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2. Acerais a St. Louis based medical device comppagializing in the
development of innovative solutions for assistingund healing. Much of their
work is the product of the pioneering research dedelopment of Dr. Matthew
MacEwan, Acera’s Chief Technology Officer. In 20@8ile an MD/Ph.D. student
at WashU, Dr. MacEwan began investigating the @ipelgmer nanofibers and their
potential use in the medical field, ultimately leadto the founding of Acera.
Following successful product tests, Acera develofedafix® Dura Substitute, a
nanofiber dural repair matrix and received FDA ceae for Cerafix® in
2016.Acera also offers a product called Restrataivd Matrix, a fully resorbable
nanofiber soft-tissue repair. Acera’s products based on the groundbreaking
nanofiber technology Dr. MacEwan and his colleagie#eloped and brought to
market. Acera’s technology enables the enginearimgatrices closely resembling
the structure and architecture of the native huexairacellular matrix. The nanofiber
matrix is engineered from intricately designed fbé create a fully resorbable
regenerative scaffold. Native cells rapidly migrat¢o the scaffold, and then
proliferate and differentiate to form new tissuea@ual and defined resorption of
the nanofiber scaffold is designed to occur atralar rate to cellular in growth and
new tissue formation. As the scaffold resorbs,gbmsity of the matrix gradually
increases to support continued tissue integratimh @eovascularization, while

eliciting a minimal inflammatory response.
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3. Plaintiff Retectix is an LLC formed under the lawtMissouri and
located in St. Louis, MO. Dr. Matthew MacEwanhg tFounder and President of
Retectix.

4. Plaintiff WashU is a corporation established beaal act of the
Missouri General Assembly approved February 22,318Bd acts amendatory
thereto, having its principal place of businesd &rookings Dr., St. Louis, MO
63130.

5. WashU is a world-renowned research institution tedaSt. Louis,
Missouri. In addition to educating tens of thoudsanof students each year, WashU
also funds nearly a billion dollars of researchoimumerous cutting edge and
innovative fields. The developments of WashU redearograms have led to
breakthroughs in the areas of environmental andggrmesearch, medical devices,
and agriculture. To support such endeavors, Wasiaihtains a robust patent
portfolio.

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant Nanofibeduions, LLC
(“Nanofiber”) is a Delaware corporation having gencipal place of business at
4389 Weaver Court North, Hilliard, Ohio 43026. Id&ber represents (at least by
including its name on labeling) that one of theduwts at issue—the Phoenix
Wound Matrix—is a Nanofiber product. Nanofiberthe listed applicant for the

510(k) premarket notification submission to the FioAthe Phoenix Wound Matrix,
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which is marketed as RenovoDerm’s product. Namofname, physical address,
and website address are listed on the packagingdnovoDerm’s Phoenix Wound
Matrix. Nanofiber is also the listed applicant tbe 510(k) premarket notification
submission to the FDA for another accused proditegon’s Rotium Bioresorbable
Wick product. Nanofiber lists both “Phoenix Wouldiatrix” and “Rotium” as
“Products” in the drop down menu that appears wieenscroll over the “Products”
tab on Nanofiber’'s website.

7.  Upon information and belief, Defendant Paragen Meldyies LLC
(“Paragen”) is a Delaware corporation having iieagpal place of business at 1330
Kinnear Rd., Suite 100, Columbus, OH 43212. Onvibsite, Paragen represents
that scaffolds comprised of nanofibers (such astutiized by the Phoenix Wound

Matrix and the Rotium Bioresorbable Wick) are “Oufechnology.”

https://www.paragentechnologies.com/  Additionally, while incorporated
separately, on information and belief, Paragen astrolled and directed by
Nanofiber.

8. Upon information and belief, Defendant RenovoDernlCL
(“RenovoDerm”) is a Delaware corporation havingatsicipal place of business at
1330 Kinnear Rd., Suite 100, Columbus, Ohio 43202 information and belief,
although RenovoDerm is incorporated separatelig @ontrolled and directed by

Nanofiber and Paragen.
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9. Upon information and belief, Defendant Atreon Opg&dics LLC
(“Atreon”) is a Delaware corporation having itsritiipal place of business at 1330
Kinnear Rd. Suite 200, Columbus, OH 43212. Onrmftion and belief, although
Atreon is incorporated separately, it is controleed directed by Nanofiber and
Paragen.

10. Oninformation and belief, Nanofiber publicly repeats and states that
Paragen, RenovoDerm, and Atreon are subsidiaridganbfiber. On information
and belief, Paragen, RenovoDerm, and Atreon puyiiicte that they are controlled
by Nanofiber. Atreon and RenovoDerm both repreti@ttthey are subsidiaries of
Paragen. RenovoDerm’s website states that Namofg&he technical parent
company” of RenovoDerm. RenovoDerm’s website’solabus” page contains no
information on RenovoDerm but instead provides nmi@ation on Nanofiber and
Paragen. Paragen’s, RenovoDerm’s, and Atreon'ssie=balso state they are
“[clreated in partnership with” Nanofiber. The ¢act entity listed on
RenovoDerm’s and Atreon’s Registration of Foreigor-Profit LLC with the
Secretary of State of Ohio is Paragen. In at Isaste filings with the U.S. Patent
and Trademark Office, Atreon provides its addressanofiber’s principal place of
business--4389 Weaver Ct. N. Hillard, OH 43026.

11. On information and belief Nanofiber, Paragen, Reimrm, and

Atreon identify the same individuals as making @it leadership teams. All four
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entities identify Ross Kayuha as their Chief Exe@Officer. All four entities
identify Ronald Bracken as their Chief Operatingi€2i. All four entities identify
Dr. Jed Johnson as their Chief Technology Offidédrus, on information and belief,
the decision-making apparatus of all three comarsgadentical. Moreover, on
information and belief, the employees responsitmeife development, sale, use and
commercialization of the Phoenix Wound Matrix, RRetium Bioresorbable Wick
and other nanofiber scaffold products report tde¢heership team of Nanofiber and
Paragen.

12. Paragen has publicly stated that it has raisedifigntb support the
commercialization of RenovoDerm’s product, the RimoeWound Matrix.

https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/paragemataogies-closes-3m-

bridge-funding-round-300757376.html

13. Publicity for the Defendants is also often crossAdled. Posters and
presentations for RenovoDerm’s products often mheliNanofiber or Paragen
branding as well. Paragen also regularly promdtes activities of both
RenovoDerm and Atreon on its website and has pupi@ass releases on behalf of

RenovoDerm and Atreon. https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/atreon-

orthopedics-received-fda-clearance-for-rotator-caffeneration-product-

300814430.htmihttps://www.paragentechnologies.com/news

14. With specific respect to Defendant's Phoenix Wouvdtrix, on
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information and belief, despite being advertised RenovoDerm product the
packaging includes the Nanofiber name and addatiserrthan RenovoDerm’s.

15. On information and belief, as explained above, Déémts share a
unified governance, interest, and ownership in ection with the infringing acts
discussed below. On information and belief, De&sns jointly control and direct
the manufacture and sale of the accused produdtthair own properties without
regard to corporate formalities, such that the tiestiproviding the accused
products/services are alter egos and/or in a pah@gency relationship with each
other. For example, in a press release by AtrRoss Kayuha is identified as the
CEO of Atreon, but refers to the approval of Defamd’ Rotium Bioresorbable
Wick and the approval of Defendants’ Phoenix Woladrix as being achieved by
the same company stating: “To receive the sec@”l ¢learance in a year, in two
different clinical areas, tells us we are on thghtitrack in developing our
regeneration technology platform.Exhibit 11.

16. Accordingly, all of the accused infringing actieisi and products are
directed and controlled by Nanofiber and/or Parager operated as a joint
enterprise directed and controlled by Nanofiber@anBaragen such that the dispute
set forth in this Complaint should be entirely tged in this case by this Court.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

17. Plaintiffs reallege and reincorporate by referetite allegations set
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forth in Paragraphs 1 through 16 of this Complaint.

18. Plaintiffs assert claims for patent infringemensiag under the patent
laws of the United States, 35 U.S.C. § 100 et segre particularly, 35 U.S.C § 271.
This Court has subject matter jurisdiction of thelsems under 28 U.S.C. 88 1331
and 1338(a).

19. On information and belief, Defendants are engagetie business of
manufacturing, selling, offering for sale, and/amprting the Phoenix Wound
Matrix, the Rotium Bioresorbable Wick and/or otima@nofiber scaffold products in
the United States, including within this Distriatyd are incorporated in this District,
and accordingly are subject to personal jurisdmctiothis District.

20. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 \@.S8 1400(b),
because Defendants reside in this District.

THE PATENTS-IN-SUIT

21. The patents-in-suit belong to three different patamilies.

22. Together, Retectix and Acera are the exclusivenfiee with the right
of enforcement of U.S. Patent No. 10,617,512 ewtitBiomedical Patches with
Aligned Fibers” (“the '512 patent”) which the Unité&States Patent and Trademark
Office lawfully and duly issued on April 14, 2020WashU is the owner by
assignment of the '512 patent. Acera and Ret@cBMicensees of the '512 patent.

A true and correct copy of the '512 patent is ditachereto aBxhibit 1. The '512
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patent is a member of the first family of patents.

23. Together, Retectix and Acera are the exclusivenfiee with the right
of enforcement of U.S. Patent No. 10,888,409 ewtitBiomedical Patches with
Aligned Fibers” (“the '409 patent”) which the Unité&States Patent and Trademark
Office lawfully and duly issued on January 12, 202VashU is the owner by
assignment of the 409 patent. Acera and RetecBMicensees of the '409 patent.
A true and correct copy of the '409 patent is dttchereto aSxhibit 12. The '409
patent is a member of the first family of patents.

24. Together, Retectix and Acera are the exclusivenfiee with the right
of enforcement of U.S. Patent No. 10,080,@8fitled “Biomedical Patches with
Spatially Arranged Fibers” (“the '687 patent”) whithe United States Patent and
Trademark Office lawfully and duly issued on Sedtem25, 2018. WashU is the
owner by assignment of the ‘687 patent. AceraRetgctix are licensees of the '687
patent. A true and correct copy of the ‘687 patemtttached hereto &xhibit 2.
The '687 patent is a member of the second familyadénts.

25. Together, Retectix and Acera are the exclusivenfiee with the right
of enforcement of U.S. Patent No. 10,682,444 ewtitBiomedical Patches with
Spatially Arranged Fibers” (“the '444 patent”) whithe United States Patent and
Trademark Office lawfully and duly issued on Jute 2020. WashU is the owner

by assignment of the ‘444 patent. Acera and Retacti licensees of the '444 patent.
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A true and correct copy of the '444 patent is dttachereto aBxhibit 3. The '444
patent is a member of a second family of patents.

26. Acera is the assignee of all rights including tightrof enforcement of
U.S. Patent No. 10,632,228 entitled “Tissue SultistiMaterials and Methods for
Tissue Repair” (“the '228 patent”) which the Unit8tates Patent and Trademark
Office lawfully and duly issued on April 28, 20204 true and correct copy of
the 228 patent is attached heretoEashibit 4. The '228 patent is a member of a
third family of patents.

DEFENDANTS’ ACTIVITES

27. Defendants have made, used, offered to sell, arsdblor within the
United States, and/or have imported into the Uni¢ates, products made from
electrospun, non-woven, matrices made of poly(&etio-caprolactone) and
poly(glycolic acid), including the Phoenix Wound tia and Rotium Bioresorbable
Wick.

28. The Phoenix Wound Matrix is marketed and sold bgdReDerm and
Nanofiber Solutions. On information and belief, f@&ants manufacture the
Phoenix Would Matrix in the United States. Infotioa regarding the Phoenix
Wound Matrix is available on RenovoDerm’s websitdhe Phoenix Wound
Matrix's instructions state it “is a sterile, sieguse device intended for the

management of wounds. The Phoenix Wound Matmxasnformable, non-woven,

10
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fibrous, three-dimensional matrix. The Phoenix WabiMatrix is made from two
types of polymer fibers: Poly(lactide-co-caprotanet) and Polyglycolic acid, which
are bioabsorbed after degrading via hydrolysischibit 5. The Phoenix Wound
Matrix is sold under a variety of sizes under thikofving reference numbers: FG-
0001 (20cm x 10cm); FG-0002 (10cm x 10cm); FG-0(3n x 5¢cm); FG-0004
(2.5cm x 2.5cm); FG-0005 (7cm x 7cm); FG-0006 (4cB8cm); FG-0013 (2cm x
1.5cm); FG-0014 (1.6 cm diameter disdd. The instructions indicate that the
Phoenix Wound Matrix will completely degrade viadhglysis within 14-21 days.
Id.

29. The RenovoDerm website links to a video contairiimgbelow image
of the different available sizes of the Phoenix Waiatrix.

10 x20cm?

10 x 10cm?*

5x5cm?
| 3x 4cm
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O
) 16 x 16mm
)
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30. On information and belief, the Rotium Bioresorba¥lek is made of

substantially the same material as the Phoenix \WoMmatrix. Both 510K

submissions for the product states that the “wglam electrospun, non-woven,

11
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microporous, microfiber matrix. The wick is maderh two types of polymer
fibers: Poly(lactide-co-caprolactone) (PLCL) amalyglycolic acid (PGA).” See
Nanofiber’'s March 2019 510(k) filing for the RotiuBioresorbable Wick attached
asExhibits 8 and Nanofiber’'s June 2020 510(k) filing for the iRot Bioresorbable
Wisk attached ag&xhibit 9. The Rotium Bioresorbable Wick is also bioresbtba
The Rotium Bioresorbable Wick is advertised on Aftre website.

https://www.atreonortho.com/Products/On information and belief, Defendants

manufacture and sell the Rotium Bioresorbable Vifidke United States.

CLAIMS FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 10,617,512)

31. Plaintiffs reallege and reincorporate the allegetioset forth in
Paragraphs 1 through 30.

32. Upon information and belief, the Phoenix Wound Natand the
Rotium Bioresorbable Wick, infringe at least Cldiraf '512 patent under 35 U.S.C.
§ 271(a) either literally or under the doctrineegliivalents.

33. Upon information and belief, Defendants have diydofringed one or
more of the claims of the '512 patent through maantifre, use, offering for sale,
and/or selling within the United States, and/oramation into the United States, of

electrospun, non-woven, wound matrices includirggRhoenix Wound Matrix and

12
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the Rotium Bioresorbable Wick in violation of 353JC. § 271(a).

34. For example, based upon a thorough analysis ofidefs’ filings
with the FDA (see IFU for the Phoenix Wound Matagached a€xhibit 5,
Defendants’ 510(k) disclosure attachedzakibit 6) in addition to RenovoDerm’s
and Nanofiber's marketing materials (see RenovolRemebsite advertising the

product: https://www.renovoderm.tech/Phoenix-Wound-Matrixdke-More/and a

poster discussing the Phoenix Wound Matrix attacellxhibit 7) Defendants’

Phoenix Wound Matrix includes all of the limitateoof Claim 1 of the '512 patent.
35. Specifically, the Phoenix Wound Matrix includes ailtmlaminar

electrospun nanofiber scaffold for use in repaiargdgfect in a tissue substrate. The

nanofiber scaffold of the Phoenix Wound Matrix lisistrated by the following

Scanning Electron Microscope (“SEM”) image from Badants’ own publications.
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36. The multi-laminar electrospun nanofiber scaffolaligles multiple

layers of fibers including a first layer formed lyfirst plurality of deposited

13
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electrospun polymeric fibers; and a second layanéal by a second plurality of
deposited electrospun polymeric fibers, whereinstheond layer is combined with
the first layer. On information and belief, thelmlaminar electrospun nanofiber
scaffold further includes at least a first portieiha higher density than a second
portion of the multi-laminar electrospun nanofilseaffold. On information and
belief, the first portion also has a higher tenstieength than the second portion.
The Phoenix Wound Matrix is also advertised as gewonfigured to degrade via
hydrolysis after 14-21 days, which is at least oh@ predetermined time or an
environmental condition. The Phoenix Would Matrsx and configured to be
applied to the tissue substrate containing theatlefd-inally, the multi-laminar
electrospun nanofiber scaffold making of the PhoéMound Matrix includes
varying density to be sufficiently flexible to fétate application of the multi-
laminar electrospun nanofiber scaffold to uneveteses of the tissue substrate and
to enable movement of the multi-laminar electrospammofiber scaffold by the tissue
substrate. These acts by Defendants constitut@ageiment of the '512 patent in
violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).

37. On information and belief, and based on a deta#getew of publicly
available information on Atreon’s website and tl®I filing for the product (see
Nanofiber's March 2019 510(k) filing for the RotiuBioresorbable Wick attached

as Exhibits 8, Nanofiber's June 2020 510(k) filing for the RatilBioresorbable

14
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Wick attached a&xhibit 9, and a brochure discussing results of animal egufiir
the Rotium Bioresorbable Wick attachedEshibit 10), for relevant features to
the '512 patent, the Rotium Bioresorbable Wick, siasstantially the same structure
as the Phoenix Wound Matrix. The nanofiber scdftidlthe Rotium Bioresorbable
Wick is illustrated by the following Scanning Elesnt Microscope (“SEM”) image

from Atreon’s website:

SEM image of the
Rotium(™) Wick

Promotional material regarding the Rotium Bioresdbb Wick from Atreon’s

website https://www.atreonortho.com/Media/Atreon-Rotium-Aral-Studies-

Brochure.pdf also shows SEM images of the product.

38. The multi-laminar electrospun nanofiber scaffolaliges multiple
layers of fibers including a first layer formed lyfirst plurality of deposited
electrospun polymeric fibers; and a second layanéal by a second plurality of
deposited electrospun polymeric fibers, whereinstheond layer is combined with

the first layer. On information and belief, thelmlaminar electrospun nanofiber

15
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scaffold further includes at least a first portimiha higher density than a second
portion of the multi-laminar electrospun nanofilseaffold. On information and
belief, the first portion also has a higher tenstieength than the second portion.
The Rotium Bioresorbable Wick is designed to béyfabsorbed by 3-4 months,
which is at least one of a predetermined time oemnronmental condition. The
Rotium Bioresorbable Wick is configured to be apglito the tissue substrate
containing the defect. Finally, the multi-laminalectrospun nanofiber scaffold
making of the Rotium Bioresorbable Wick includesrywag density to be
sufficiently flexible to facilitate application othe multi-laminar electrospun
nanofiber scaffold to uneven surfaces of the tissipstrate and to enable movement
of the multi-laminar electrospun nanofiber scaffoldthe tissue substrate. These
acts by Defendants constitute infringement of th&2’ patent in violation of 35
U.S.C. § 271(a).

COUNT TWO

(Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 10,080,687)

39. Plaintiffs reallege and reincorporate the allegetioset forth in
Paragraphs 1 through 38.

40. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ produats;luding the
Phoenix Wound Matrix and Rotium Bioresorbable WicKringe at least Claim 1

of '687 patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) eitherditg or under the doctrine of

16
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equivalents.

41. Upon information and belief, Defendants have diyaafringed one or
more of the claims of the '687 patent through mantifre, use, offering for sale,
and/or selling within the United States, and/oramation into the United States, of
nanofiber scaffolds including the Phoenix Wound fi4sdnd Rotium Bioresorbable
Wick in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).

42. For example, based upon a thorough analysis ofridef#s’ filings
with the FDA (see IFU for the Phoenix Wound Matagached a€xhibit 5,
Defendants’ 510(k) disclosure attached=ahibit 6) in addition to RenovoDerm’s
and Nanofiber's marketing materials (see RenovolRemebsite advertising the

product: https://www.renovoderm.tech/Phoenix-Wound-Matrixdte-More/and a

poster discussing the Phoenix Wound Matrix attaceBxhibit 7) Defendants’
Phoenix Wound Matrix includes all of the limitateoof Claim 1 of the '687 patent.
43. Specifically, Defendants’ Phoenix Wound Matrix mdés a structure
for repairing a defect in a substrate. On infororaéind belief, the structure includes
a first layer formed by a plurality of polymeridérs and a second layer formed by
a second plurality of polymeric fibers. On infortima and belief, the second layer
Is coupled to the first layer using a first couglprocess. On information and belief,
the second layer of the structure has a plurafitgemsities formed by the second

plurality of polymeric fibers. The first and secbiayers of the structure are

17
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configured to degrade via hydrolysis after 14-2¥sdavhich means they are
configured to separate after a predetermined tintoa environmental condition
arises. Finally, the structure is configured tcapelied to the substrate containing
the defect. These acts by Defendants constitfit@gement of the '687 patent in
violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).

44. On information and belief, and based on a detadgedw of publicly
available information on Atreon’s website and ti®Is filing for the product (see
Nanofiber's March 2019 510(k) filing for the RotiuBioresorbable Wick attached
as Exhibits 8, Nanofiber's June 2020 510(k) filing for the RatilBioresorbable
Wick attached a&xhibit 9, and a brochure discussing results of animal esufiir
the Rotium Bioresorbable Wick attached Ehibit 10), for relevant features to
the '687 patent, the Rotium Bioresorbable Wick, siasstantially the same structure
as the Phoenix Wound Matrix. The Rotium BioresbleadVick includes a structure
for repairing a defect in a substrate. On infororaéind belief, the structure includes
a first layer formed by a plurality of polymeribérs and a second layer formed by
a second plurality of polymeric fibers. On infortima and belief, the second layer
Is coupled to the first layer using a first couglprocess. On information and belief,
the second layer of the structure has a plurahtgemsities formed by the second
plurality of polymeric fibers. The first and secbiayers of the structure are

configured to absorb after 3-4 months, which méheg are configured to separate

18
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after a predetermined time and/or environmentaldidmm arises. Finally, the
structure is configured to be applied to the salbstcontaining the defect. These
acts by Defendants constitute infringement of &7’ patent in violation of 35
U.S.C. § 271(a).

COUNT THREE

(Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 10,682,444)

45. Plaintiffs reallege and reincorporate the allegatioset forth in
Paragraphs 1 through 44.

46. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ produats;luding the
Phoenix Wound Matrix, infringe at least Claim 1tlo¢ ‘444 patent under 35 U.S.C.
§ 271(a) either literally or under the doctrineegliivalents.

47. Upon information and belief, Defendants have diyaafringed one or
more of the claims of the '444 patent through mantifre, use, offering for sale,
and/or selling within the United States, and/oramation into the United States, of
nanofiber scaffolds including the Phoenix Wound i#ain violation of 35 U.S.C.
8§ 271(a).

48. For example, based upon a thorough analysis offdef#s’ filings
with the FDA (see IFU for the Phoenix Wound Matagached a€xhibit 5,
Defendants’ 510(k) disclosure attached=ahibit 6) in addition to RenovoDerm’s

and Nanofiber's marketing materials (see Renovolemebsite advertising the

19
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product: https://www.renovoderm.tech/Phoenix-Wound-Matrixdte-More/and a

poster discussing the Phoenix Wound Matrix attacellxhibit 7) Defendants’
Phoenix Wound Matrix includes all of the limitateof Claim 1 of the '444 patent.
49. Specifically, Defendants’ Phoenix Wound Matrix dés a three-
dimensional electrospun nanofiber scaffold thasisd in repairing a defect in tissue
substrate. The scaffold includes a first pluraditglectrospun polymeric nanofibers
having a diameter of 1-3000 nanometers and secduchlity of deposited
electrospun polymeric nanofibers. The second ptyraf deposited electrospun
polymeric nanofibers being coupled to the firstrality of electrospun polymeric
nanofibers. The second plurality of electrospulymeric nanofibers forms one or
more regions within the three-dimensional electnospanofiber scaffold. On
information and belief, one or more of the regioomprise a density different from
one or more other regions of the three-dimensieleaitrospun polymeric nanofiber
scaffold. On information and belief, the one orencegions are overlaid on a first
portion of the first plurality of electrospun polgnc nanofibers and are not overlaid
on a second portion of the first plurality of el®espun polymeric nanofibers. The
three-dimensional electrospun nanofiber scaffoldefendants’ Phoenix Wound
Matrix is further configured to be applied to thestie substrate that contains the
defect and comprises a controlled separation raless than 30 days. Within 30

days after application to the tissue substrateavoing the defect the first plurality

20



Case 1:20-cv-00980-CFC Document 32 Filed 03/03/21 Page 21 of 27 PagelD #: 551

of electrospun polymeric nanofibers and the secphdality of deposited
electrospun nanofibers are adapted to separatdwdeolysis. These acts by
Defendants constitute infringement of the '444 pata violation of 35 U.S.C. §
271(a).

COUNT FOUR

(INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 10,632,228)

50. Plaintiffs reallege and reincorporate the allegetioset forth in
Paragraphs 1 through 49.

51. To the extent Defendants’ products, including thedhix Wound
Matrix and the Rotium Bioresorbable Wick are fourat to include more than a
single layer, upon information and belief, Defertdarproducts, including the
Phoenix Wound Matrix and the Rotium BioresorbablieR)Mnfringe at least Claim
1 of '228 patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) eithrdilly or under the doctrine of
equivalents.

52. Upon information and belief, Defendants have diyaofringed one or
more of the claims of the 228 patent through mantifre, use, offering for sale,
and/or selling within the United States, and/oramation into the United States, of
nanofiber scaffolds including the Phoenix Wound m4atand the Rotium
Bioresorbable Wick in violation of 35 U.S.C. 8§ 2&)L(

53. For example, based upon a thorough analysis offdefes’ filings
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with the FDA (see IFU for the Phoenix Wound Matagached a€xhibit 5,
Defendants’ 510(k) disclosure attached=ahibit 6) in addition to RenovoDerm’s
and Nanofiber's marketing materials (see RenovolRemebsite advertising the

product:https://www.renovoderm.tech/Phoenix-Wound-Matrixdte-More/and a

poster discussing the Phoenix Wound Matrix attaceBxhibit 7) Defendants’
Phoenix Wound Matrix includes all of the limitateoof Claim 1 of the '228 patent
if the product does not have multiple layers.

54. Specifically, Defendants’ Phoenix Wound Matrix mdés a resorbable
non-woven graft material consisting of a singleslayThe single layer of the non-
woven graft material includes a first electrospon-woven fiber composition made
from poly(glycolic acid). The single layer of tlmn-woven graft material also
includes a second electrospun non-woven fiber caeitipn made from poly(lactide-
co-caprolactone). The first and second electrosmumwoven fiber compositions
comprise different polymers, and are comingledughmut the thickness of the non-
woven graft material. These acts by Defendantstdate infringement of the '228
patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).

55. On information and belief, and based on a detadetew of publicly
available information on Atreon’s website and tl®I filing for the product (see
Nanofiber's March 2019 510(k) filing for the RotiuBioresorbable Wick attached

as Exhibits 8, Nanofiber's June 2020 510(k) filing for the RatilBioresorbable
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Wick attached a&xhibit 9, and a brochure discussing results of animal egufiir
the Rotium Bioresorbable Wick attachedEshibit 10), for relevant features to
the 228 patent, the Rotium Bioresorbable Wick, siasstantially the same structure
as the Phoenix Wound Matrix. The Rotium Bioresbi®aWick includes a
resorbable non-woven graft material consisting single layer. The single layer
of the non-woven graft material includes a firseatfospun non-woven fiber
composition made from poly(glycolic acid). Thegalayer of the non-woven graft
material also includes a second electrospun norewéier composition made from
poly(lactide-co-caprolactone). The first and setefectrospun non-woven fiber
compositions comprise different polymers, and aoeniogled throughout the
thickness of the non-woven graft material. Thests &by Defendants constitute
infringement of the '228 patent in violation of B6S.C. § 271(a).

COUNT FIVE

(INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 10,888,409)

56. Plaintiffs reallege and reincorporate the allegetioset forth in
Paragraphs 1 through 55.

57. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ produats;luding the
Phoenix Wound Matrix, infringe at least Claim 44loé '409 patent under 35 U.S.C.
§ 271(a) either literally or under the doctrineegiiivalents.

58. Upon information and belief, Defendants have diyaofringed one or
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more of the claims of the 409 patent through mantifre, use, offering for sale,
and/or selling within the United States, and/oramation into the United States, of
nanofiber scaffolds including the Phoenix Wound hi#aih violation of 35 U.S.C.
8§ 271(a).

59. For example, based upon a thorough analysis ofridefés’ filings
with the FDA (see IFU for the Phoenix Wound Matagached a€xhibit 5,
Defendants’ 510(k) disclosure attached=ahibit 6) in addition to RenovoDerm’s
and Nanofiber's marketing materials (see Renovolemebsite advertising the

product: https://www.renovoderm.tech/Phoenix-Wound-MatridteMore/ a

poster discussing the Phoenix Wound Matrix attacsttkhibit 7, and a brochure
discussing the Phoenix Wound Matrix attachebasbit 13) Defendants’ Phoenix
Wound Matrix includes all of the limitations of @a 1 of the '409 patent.

60. Specifically, Defendants’ Phoenix Wound Matrix undés a three-
dimensional electrospun skin substitute for useejmairing tissue. The product
contains a flexible electrospun fiber network watHirst set of electrospun fibers
comprising a first bioresorbable polymer (poly(gilic acid)) and a second set of
electrospun fibers comprising a second bioresoebgdalymer made out of a
different composition than the first(poly(lactide-caprolactone)). On information
and belief, and as shown in Defendants’ documéimésflexible electrospun fiber

network includes a surface comprising a repeatimtase pattern.
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Phoenix Sizes & Ordering Data

10cmx20cm

10ecemx10cm

7emx7cm

S5emx5em

Exhibit 13, pg. 10. On information and belief, iestf portion of the flexible
electrospun fiber network of a particular size casgs a first spatial variation
between fibers that is lower than a second sparation between fibers in a second
portion of the flexible electrospun fiber networktbe particular size and the first
and second portion form a part of the surface ef ftaxible electrospun fiber
network. As reflected in Defendants’ documents, finst set and second set of
electrospun fibers are configured to degrade aip@iication to the tissue. These
acts by Defendants constitute infringement of #@9’ patent in violation of 35
U.S.C. § 271(a).

JURY DEMAND

61. Plaintiffs demand a jury trial on all issues saltie.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request judgment and seek relief as follows:

A. A judgment that Defendants and its officers, agents, servants,
employees, attorneys, and all others in active concert and/or participation with
Defendants have directly infringed one or more claims of each of
the '512, '444,°687, '409, and/or '228 patents;

B. A ruling that this case is exceptional under 35 U.S.C. § 285, and an
award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and non-taxable costs;

C. Aninjunction enjoining Defendants and their officers, agents, servants,
employees, attorneys, and all others in active concert and/or participation with
Defendants, from infringing any and all of the '512, '444, '687, '409 and/or '228
patents through the manufacture, use, importation, offer for sale, and/or sale of
infringing products, and/or any of the other acts prohibited by 35 U.S.C. § 271;

D. An award of monetary damages compensating Plaintiffs for the
infringement of the '512, '444, '687, '409 and/or '228 patents by Defendants
through payment of not less than a reasonable royalty on sales of infringing products
by Defendants;

E. An assessment of prejudgment and post-judgment interest and costs
against Defendants, together with an award of such interest and costs, pursuant to 35

U.S.C. § 284;
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F.  Any and all further necessary relief as the Court may deem just and

proper.

OFCOUNSEL:

Jonathan E. Bachand

Catherine Gourash

KNOBBE, MARTENS, OLSON

& BEAR, LLP

1717 Pennsylvania Avenue N.W.,
Suite 900

Washington, DC 20006

(202) 640-6400

Dated:March 3, 202
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